# SURFICIAL SUBSTRATES AND BATHYMETRY OF FIVE HISTORICAL LAKE TROUT SPAWNING REEFS IN NEAR-SHORE WATERS OF THE GREAT LAKES

# Great Lakes Fishery Commission

# **TECHNICAL REPORT 58**

The Great Lakes Fishery Commission was established by the Convention on Great Lakes Fisheries between Canada and the United States, which was ratified on October 11, 1955. It was organized in April 1956 and assumed its duties as set forth in the Convention on July 1, 1956. The Commission has two major responsibilities: first, develop coordinated programs of research in the Great Lakes, and, on the basis of the findings, recommend measures which will permit the maximum sustained productivity of stocks of fish of common concern; second, formulate and implement a program to eradicate or minimize sea lamprey populations in the Great Lakes.

The Commission is also required to publish or authorize the publication of scientific or other information obtained in the performance of its duties. In fulfillment of this requirement the Commission publishes the Technical Report Series, intended for peer-reviewed scientific literature; Special Publications, designed primarily for dissemination of reports produced by working committees of the Commission; and other (non-serial) publications. Technical Reports are most suitable for either interdisciplinary review and synthesis papers of general interest to Great Lakes fisheries researchers, managers, and administrators or more narrowly focused material with special relevance to a single but important aspect of the Commission's program. Special Publications, being working documents, may evolve with the findings of and charges to a particular committee. Both publications follow the style of the Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. Sponsorship of Technical Reports or Special Publications does not necessarily imply that the findings or conclusions contained therein are endorsed by the Commission.

#### COMMISSIONERS

Canada F. W. H. Beamish G. L. Beggs C. A. Fraser (Designate) P. H. Sutherland

United States C. D. Besadny J. M. Cady J. M. Hayden C. C. Krueger H. H. Whiteley (Alternate)

#### SECRETARIAT

R. W. Beecher, Executive Secretary
R. L. Eshenroder, Senior Scientist
J. Muldoon, Sea Lamprey Program Manager
B. S. Staples, Administrative Officer
G. C. Christie, Integrated Management Specialist
M. A. Dochoda, Fishery Biologist

October 1992

## SURFICIAL SUBSTRATES AND BATHYMETRY OF FIVE HISTORICAL LAKE TROUT SPAWNING REEFS IN NEAR-SHORE WATERS OF THE GREAT LAKES

#### Thomas A. Edsall

National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, MI 48105

#### **Charles L. Brown**

U.S. Department of Agriculture Federal Center Building Hyattsville, MD 20782

#### Gregory W. Kennedy

National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, MI 48105

#### John R. P. French, III

National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, MI 48105

#### **TECHNICAL REPORT 58**

Great Lakes Fishery Commission 2100 Commonwealth Blvd., Suite 209 Ann Arbor, MI 48105-1563

#### October 1992

Contribution 817 of the National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes Ann Arbor, MI 48105 U.S.A.

TR58-10/92-2500

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	
METHODS	3
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	5
Partridge Island Reef	5
Wilmette Reef 1	1
Port Austin Reef 1	7
Brocton Shoal	8
Charity Shoal Complex 4	1
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 5	1
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
REFERENCES	2

## SURFICIAL SUBSTRATES AND BATHYMETRY OF FIVE HISTORICAL LAKE TROUT SPAWNING REEFS IN NEAR-SHORE WATERS OF THE GREAT LAKES

Thomas A. Edsall National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, MI 48105

> Charles L. Brown U.S. Department of Agriculture Federal Center Building Hyattsville, MD 20782

Gregory W. Kennedy National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, MI 48105

John R. P. French, III National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, MI 48105

ABSTRACT. The reestablishment of self-sustaining stocks of lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) in the lower four Great Lakes has been substantially impeded because planted fish do not produce enough progeny that survive to reproduce. The causes for this failure are unknown, but many historical spawning sites of lake trout have been degraded by human activities and can no longer produce viable swim-up fry. In this study, we used side-scan sonar and an underwater video camera to survey, map, and evaluate the suitability of one reef in each of the five Great Lakes for lake trout spawning and fry production. At four of the reef sites, we found good-to-excellent substrate for spawning and fry production by the shallow-water strains of lake trout that are now being planted. These substrates were in water 6-22 m deep and were composed largely of piles of rounded or angular rubble and cobble. Interstitial spaces in these substrates were 20 cm or deeper and would protect naturally spawned eggs and fry from predators, ice scour, and buffeting by waves and currents. Subsequent studies of egg survival by other researchers confirmed our evaluation that the best substrates at two of these sites still have the potential to produce viable swim-up fry.

#### INTRODUCTION

Reestablishment of self-sustaining stocks of lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) in the lower four Great Lakes is substantially impeded because planted fish do not produce enough progeny that grow to 120 mm, the size at which planted hatchery fish show satisfactory survival. The causes for this failure to produce fish of an adequate size are unknown. Researchers at a conference sponsored by the Great Lakes Fishery Commission (GLFC) on lake trout rehabilitation (Eshenroder et al. 1984) examined an extended list of hypotheses and strategies to resolve the problem. Researchers concluded that:

- 1) habitat degradation might prevent natural reproduction by planted fish in many near-shore waters of the lower four Great Lakes, and
- 2) better descriptions of the microhabitats on historical spawning reefs were needed to facilitate rehabilitation in the lower four Great Lakes.

In 1985, an ad hoc committee' of the GLFC (Eshenroder 1988) designed a field bioassay (Manny et al. 1989) to evaluate the effects of cultural eutrophication on the spawning habitat and reproduction of lake trout. The committee also selected one bioassay site in each Great Lake (Fig. 1) and recommended that side-scan sonar be used to survey the sites, describe their physical features, and identify the best substrates and microhabitats for the bioassays. The New York State Department of Environmental Conservation assisted with site selections in Lakes Erie and Ontario. This paper describes the side-scan sonar and video-camera surveys that were performed on five sites in 1986-87 and evaluates the suitability of those sites as habitat for eggs, developing embryos, and fry of shallow-water or lean-strain lake trout.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Members of the committee: T. A. Edsall, R. L. Eshenroder (Chair), D. J. Jude, J. R. M. Kelso, J. A. McLean, and J. W. Peck.



UNITED STATES



#### METHODS

The lake bed was surveyed and mapped with an EG&G (217 Middlesex Turnpike, Burlington, MA 10803, U.S.A.) side-scan sonar system, which included a Model 260 microprocessor, Model 360 digital tape, and Model 272-T 100-kHz towfish with time-varied gain. Survey and mapping methods were similar to those used in studies of lake trout spawning grounds in northern Lake Michigan (Edsall et al. 1989) and central Lake Huron (Edsall et al. 1992). The towfish was deployed from a cable and davit over the side of the survey vessel. The length of the cable was adjusted so that the towfish ran 2-4 m beneath the surface of the water and 5-40 m above the lake bed as the vessel cruised at approximately 7.4 km/h. The towfish directed an acoustic signal to the lake bed, received and amplified the echo from the lake bed, and transmitted it to the microprocessor. The microprocessor converted the signal into a continuous strip-chart record showing the physical features of the surface of a 200-m-wide strip of lake bed beneath the towfish. We pulled the towfish along a series of parallel transects that covered the area to be surveyed and mapped. To facilitate navigation, these

transects followed Loran C isograms. Transect spacing was approximately 120 m to allow overlapping representation of the lake bed on strip-chart records for adjacent transects.

The lake bed was examined at selected locations within the survey area with a Mini-ROVER Mk II (Benthos, Inc., 47 Egerton Drive, North Falmouth, MA 02556, U.S.A.) to facilitate interpretation of the side-scan records. The Mini-ROVER Mk II is a remotely operated submersible vehicle (ROV) equipped with a color video camera. An operator aboard the survey vessel guided the movements of the ROV (deployed on a tether) with joystick controls while monitoring the video-camera images transmitted to a closed-circuit video monitor aboard the survey vessel. An alphanumeric display of the depth at which the ROV was operating, and the compass heading it was following, were superimposed on the images of the lake bed. The entire screen display was videotaped to provide a permanent record.

The ROV rested on skids when it was on the bottom of the lake. The skids extended forward into the video-camera field of view and the distance between the skids (18 cm) provided a scale to estimate the size of rocks and other lake-bed objects recorded on the videotapes. The substrate interstitial depth (the vertical distance into loose rock substrates into which lake trout eggs and fry can gravitate) was estimated from the size composition and amount of piling of the loose rock and the degree to which sand or other fine sediments infiltrated the loose rock substrate. A Ponar grab was occasionally used to confirm the identity of soft sediments (sand, silt, clay) registered on the strip charts. The Ponar grab also collected small rocks that helped identify the bedrock or loose-rock components of the substrate.

In the laboratory, a 1:1000-scale mosaic map of each surveyed area was assembled from the strip charts. A regression technique (Edsall et al. 1989) accurately aligned the strip charts forming the mosaic. Substrate area1 distributions were delineated manually on the mosaic as polygons. The substrate within a polygon was classified according to Wentworth (1922) as:

- 1) sand ( $\leq 2 \text{ mm in diameter}$ ),
- 2) gravel (2-64 mm),
- 3) rubble (65-256 mm),
- 4) cobble (257-999 mm), or
- 5) boulder (>999 mm).

A substrate mixture was classified by the two components that covered the largestand second-largest amounts of lake bed within the polygon.

A bathymetric overlay was also constructed for each mosaic map from the water-depth information displayed on the margin or profile section of each strip chart in the mosaic (Edsall et al. 1989). The mosaic maps and bathymetric overlays were digitized and entered into a geographic information system. Computer-drawn maps were then produced at a scale of 1:4000, 1:6000, or 1:8000 showing the distribution of major substrates and the bathymetry of each surveyed area. These maps are on file at the National Fisheries Research Center--Great Lakes and copies are available from the GLFC. Evaluation of the lake bed as spawning and try-production habitat was based on recent studies (Wagner 1982, Peck 1986, Nester and Poe 1987, Marsden et al. 1988, Marsden and Krueger 1990) suggesting that angular or round rock (approximately 5-50 cm in diameter with interstitial depths of 30 cm or more) is suitable for planted lake trout in the Great Lakes.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### Partridge Island Reef

Partridge Island Reef is between Granite Point and Larus Island near the southern shore of Lake Superior and is separated from the mainland shore by water 20 m deep (Fig. 2). Approximately 366 ha of lake bed around the crest of the reef were mapped (Fig. 3). Water depth ranged from 14 m on the crest of the reef to more than 32 m at the northern end of the mapped area. At depths of 14-20 m, the reef was roughly oval in shape with regular bathymetry. Substrates at the crest of the reef were smooth bedrock, broken bedrock with scattered rubble, and rubble layers with cobble piles (Fig. 4). The southern and western borders of the reef were rubble layers with scattered rubble piles. To the north and east, smooth bedrock and broken bedrock with scattered rubble were the major substrates to a depth of approximately 23 m.



Fig. 2. Location of side-scan sonar survey on Partridge Island Reef, Lake Superior. Plotted on NOAA chart 14963, October 1981. Water depths are in feet.



Fig 3. Partridge Island Reef substrates and bathymetry. Water depths (dashed lines) are in meters. The black bar in the lower right corner represents 0.2 km.

Substrate		Hectares
S - Sand		195.75
Rc - Rubble layers with cobble piles		41.98
Rs - Rubble patches on sand		19.87
Bs - Bedrock covered by sand patches		13.31
Br - Broken bedrock with scattered rubble		42.07
B - Smooth bedrock		5283
	Total	365.81

7



Fig. 4. Rubble layers with cobble piles substrate on Partridge Island Reef, Lake Superior.

The northern and eastern borders of the reef were bedrock covered by sand patches and rubble patches on sand at depths of approximately 23-32 m. Sand surrounded the reef on three sides in the mapped area and depths were as shallow as 20 m on the western side of the reef. Large sand ripples with crest-to-crest distances of 3-4 m were apparent on the mosaic map adjacent to the northern end of the rubble layers with cobble piles substrate (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Large sand ripples at the northern end of Partridge Island Reef, Lake Superior. The black bar in the lower left corner represents 50 m.

The best habitat on Partridge Island Reef for lake trout spawning and fry production was the rubble layers with cobble piles that covered approximately 42 ha on the western side of the reef at depths of 14-22 m. Videotapes of this substrate revealed interstitial depths of 30 cm or more and little or no periphyton growth. The absence of fine sediments on this part of the reef and the presence of large sand ripples immediately adjacent to the reef in water 22-26 m deep indicated the rubble layers with cobble piles substrate was periodically scoured by strong littoral currents. The broken bedrock with scattered rubble substrate in patches where the interstitial depth exceeded 20 cm. Both the rubble layers with cobble piles substrate and the broken bedrock with scattered rubble substrate extended beyond the southeastern border of the mapped area. No other substrates that were mapped provided sufficient interstitial depth to serve as spawning or fryproduction habitat.

#### Wilmette Reef

Wilmette Reef is a small bedrock outcrop approximately 10 km northeast of Wilmette, Illinois, in southern Lake Michigan (Fig. 6). The reef is in water 15-18 m deep on the lakeward edge of a broad, gently sloping plateau of Silurian dolomite bedrock (Collinson et al. 1979). East of the reef, the lake bed drops quickly to depths of at least 30 m. Approximately 322 ha of lake bed surrounding the reef crest were mapped (Fig. 7). Water depth ranged from approximately 12 m on the reef crest to 28 m in the southeastern corner of the mapped area. The reef was roughly oval in shape at depths of 12-16 m and was composed mostly of bedrock ridges (Fig. 8). This central portion of the reef was surrounded by a narrow band of rubble piles with sand patches (Fig. 9) and sand with scattered rubble (Fig. 10) mostly at depths of 20-22 m. Rubble with sand was the major substrate on most of the rest of the mapped area at depths of approximately 20-27 m. Small areas of sand, sand with scattered rubble, and gravel with scattered rubble were present at depths of approximately 23-28 m in the southeastern portion of the mapped area.

None of the lake bed that we mapped on Wilmette Reef seemed suitable for spawning or fry production by lake trout. The bedrock ridges that were the major bathymetric feature of the reef lacked the loose rock overburden needed for successful lake trout spawning and fry-production habitat. Only scattered patches of widely spaced rubble and a patchy veneer of sand were present on top of the bedrock ridges substrate and there were no substrate interstices that could hold eggs or fry. The rubble piles with sand patches substrate had interstitial depths up to 5 cm in places, but extensive sand infilling rendered this substrate unsuitable for fry production. The other substrates in the surveyed area had no interstitial depth.



Fig. 6. Location of side-scan sonar survey on Wilmette Reef, Lake Michigan. Plotted on NOAA chart 14905, November 1981. Water depths are in feet.



Fig. 7. Wilmette Reef substrates and bathymetry. Water depths (dashed lines) are in meters. The black bar in the top right corner represents 0.2 km.

Substrate	Hectares
S - Sand	3.29
Sr - Sand with scattered rubble	15.99
Gr - Gravel with scattered rubble	14.63
Rs - Rubble evenly distributed on sand	196.42
Rp - Rubble piles with sand patches	50.01
Br - Bedrock ridges	4192
То	tal 322.26



Fig. 8. Bedrock ridges substrate on Wilmette Reef, Lake Michigan.



Fig. 9. Rubble piles with sand patches substrate on Wilmette Reef, I Michigan.



Fig. 10. Sand with scattered rubble substrate on Wilmette Reef, Lake Michigan.

#### Port Austin Reef

Port Austin Reef occupies the lakeward end of a submerged, rocky point that extends 3-4 km into southeastern Lake Huron near the mouth of Saginaw Bay at Port Austin, Michigan (Fig. 11). The general stratigraphy and composition of the surficial sediments of southern Lake Huron, including the Port Austin Reef area, are described by Cvancara and Melik (1961) and Thomas et al. (1973). Bedrock strata form exposed ridges on the lake bed near Port Austin and include Mississippian shales of the Napoleon-Marshall and Coldwater formations; unconsolidated glacial deposits are also found along the shoreline (Cvancara and Melik 1961). Other major surficial sediments composing the lake bed near Port Austin include sand from sources in Saginaw Bay, glaciolacustrine clays from the Canadian shield, and glacial tills (Thomas et al. 1973). The glaciolacustrine clays occur between the glacial tills deposited in inshore waters and the muds deposited in the deeper offshore waters. Both the glaciolacustrine clays and glacial tills vary in color from gray to reddish brown and both may occur as outcrops on the lake bed. The glaciolacustrine clays are moderately stiff in composition and may contain ice-rafted pebbles and display colored laminations. The tills are composed of cobbles and pebbles in a stiff sand, silt, and clay matrix and are usually covered with complex lag gravels (pebble- to cobble-sized rocks that remain after the finer materials are washed away), sands, or both, especially near the mouth of Saginaw Bay.



Fig. 11. Location of side-scan sonar survey on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron. Plotted on NOAA chart 14860, October 1987. Water depths are in feet and fathoms.

Approximately 430 ha surrounding the crest of Port Austin Reef (Fig. 12) were mapped. Water depth was approximately 6 m at the crest of the reef and the reef was basically oval in shape at depths of 6-12 m. The reef sloped quickly into deep water (20 m or more) to the north and was separated from the shoreline to the south by a narrow band of water approximately 13 m deep. Substrate distribution on the mapped portion of the reef was complex. The reef crest at depths of 6-12 m was mostly smooth bedrock (Fig. 13) and bedrock with cobble patches (Fig. 14). A small intrusion of cobble on bedrock (Fig. 15) was present on the southern side of the crest and cobble evenly distributed on sand (Fig. 16) bordered the crest on the southwest. The smooth bedrock, cobble on bedrock, and cobble patches on sand were all extensions of substrates present in shallow water along the shoreline to the south. Bedrock with cobble patches substrate surrounded the reef crest on three sides and extended shoreward in a narrow finger to a depth of approximately 12 m. The same substrate also extended northeast to a depth greater than 20 m. Clay ridges with sand (Fig. 17) bordered the eastern and western sides of the mapped area at depths less than 18 m. These ridges were conspicuous features on the mosaic. They were approximately l-2 m high, 5 m wide, up to 100 m long, and were oriented roughly north to south (Fig. 18). The ridges were composed of stiff clay with inclusions of gravel- to rubblesized rock, suggesting they were glacial till. At depths greater than 18 m, the substrate was sand with scattered rubble, sand with cobble patches, sand on broken bedrock (Fig. 19), and cobble patches on sand.



Fig. 12. Port Austin Reef substrates and bathymetry. Water depths (dashed lines) are in meters. The black bar in the lower right corner represents 0.2 km.

Substrate		Hectares
S - Sand		37.74
Sr - Sand with scattered rubble		1.09
Sc - Sand with cobble patches		7.36
Sb - Sand on broken bedrock		10.48
Cb - Cobble on bedrock		39.12
Cs - Cobble evenly distributed on sand		113.54
Cp - Cobble patches on sand		17.32
Cr - Clay ridges with sand		99.62
Bc - Bedrock with cobble patches		55.54
B - Smooth bedrock		48 26
	Total	430.07



Fig. 13. Smooth bedrock substrate on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron.



Fig. 14. Bedrock with cobble patches substrate on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron.



Fig. 15. Cobble on bedrock substrate on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron.



Fig. 16. Cobble evenly distributed on sand substrate on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron.



Fig. 17. Clay ridges with sand substrate on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron.



Fig. 18. Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron, mosaic element showing clay ridges on sand substrate. Inset shows location of mosaic element on Fig. 12. The black bar represents 50 m.



Fig. 19. Sand on broken bedrock substrate on Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron.

The best substrate on Port Austin Reef for lake trout spawning and fry production was the bedrock with cobble patches that covered approximately 56 ha on the northern, eastern, and western sides of the crest of the reef. Interstitial depth exceeded 20 cm on most of this substrate. Also suitable for spawning and fry production were scattered patches of cobble in the cobble on bedrock substrate that covered approximately 39 ha between the crest of the reef and the southern boundary of the mapped area. Interstitial depth exceeded 20 cm in these patches, which were several meters in diameter. The other substrates in the mapped area were unsuitable because their interstitial depth was less than 5 cm.

#### **Brocton Shoal**

Brocton Shoal is a bedrock outcrop approximately 4-8 km offshore in eastern Lake Erie near Brocton, New York (Fig. 20). The shoal spans the 20-m depth contour and appears to be an underwater extension of Van Buren Point. Water depth between the shoal and the shoreline exceeds 15 m. The lake bed slopes sharply downward north of the shoal and somewhat less sharply to the west. The bedrock substrate along the New York shore of Lake Erie is composed of Devonian shales that dip gradually to the east and are covered in places by glacial till or glaciolacustrine clay; rocky headlands (where present) are younger shales and sandstones (Hall 1843, Carter 1977, Sly and Thomas 1974).



Fig. 20. Location of side-scan sonar survey on Brocton Shoal, Lake Erie. Plotted on NOAA chart 14823, September 1987. Water depths are in feet. A portion of the submerged lakeward extension of Van Buren Point is shown by the 24- and 30-foot depth contours east of the surveyed area.

Approximately 753 ha of lake bed were mapped on the shoal (Fig. 21). Three shoal crests were present in the mapped area. Water depth ranged from 16 m on the central crest and 18 m on the eastern and western crests, to 26 m in the northwestern corner of the mapped area. The eastern crest, which was only partly mapped, was composed of worn bedrock at 18-22 m and was bordered on the west by sand with scattered rubble, and broken bedrock covered by sand. The central crest was mostly worn bedrock at depths of 16-22 m (Fig. 22). It was bordered on the south and west by broken bedrock covered by sand (Fig. 23) and cobble ridges scattered on sand (Figs. 24, 25, 26) at 18-20 m, and on the east and north by sand with scattered rubble at 18-22 m. The western crest was worn bedrock, broken bedrock with scattered boulders, and broken bedrock covered by sand at 18-22 m. This crest was surrounded by sand except on the northwestern corner where broken bedrock covered by sand occupied part of the southwestern corner of the mapped area at 18-22 m.



Fig. 21. Brocton Shoal substrates and bathymetry. Water depths (dashed lines) are in meters. The black bar represents 0.4 km.

Substrate		Hectares
Sr - Sand with scattered rubble		392.19
Cs - Cobble ridges on sand		37.51
B - Worn bedrock		204.74
Bb - Broken bedrock with scattered boulders		9.01
Bs - Broken bedrock covered by sand		109 49
Ţ	otal	752.94



Fig. 22. Worn bedrock substrate on Brocton Shoal, Lake Erie.



Fig. 23. Broken bedrock covered by sand substrate on Brocton Shoal, Lake Erie.



Fig. 24. Cobble ridges scattered on sand substrate on Brocton Shoal, Lake Erie. View of side of ridge.



Fig. 25. Cobble ridges scattered on sand substrate on Brocton Shoal, Lake Erie. View of top of ridge.



Fig. 26. Close-up of cobble shown in Fig. 25. Note the clean surface of the rocks.

The best substrate for spawning and fry production on Brocton Shoal was the 38 ha of cobble ridges on sand on the southern and western edges of the central reef crest. These ridges were readily apparent on the mosaic as sinuous features approximately 5-10 m wide, 100 m or more long (Fig. 27), and approximately 2 m high (shown by the depths recorded on Figs. 24 and 25). The rock comprising the ridges was clean when it was photographed in July (Fig. 26) and interstitial depth appeared to exceed 30 cm. The sand ripples at the base of some of the ridges (Figs. 28, 29) indicated there was considerable hydraulic action at the bottom in this area. The broken bedrock with scattered boulders substrate that covered 9 ha on the eastern slopes of the central and western crests was marginal for lake trout spawning and fry production. In this substrate, interstitial depths were less than 10 cm and the spaces between the loose rocks were wide enough to allow small fish to prey on eggs and fry resting there. None of the other substrates on Brocton Shoal was suitable for lake trout spawning and fry production.



Fig. 27. Brocton Shoal mosaic element showing cobble ridges scattered on sand. Inset shows location of mosaic element on Fig. 18. The black bar in the lower left corner represents 50 m.



Fig. 28. Sand ripples at the base of a cobble ridge on Brocton Shoal, Lake Erie.

#### ERRATA: Technical Report 58, p.41

Surficial Substrates and Bathymetry of Five Historical Lake Trout Spawning Reefs in Near-shore Waters of the Great Lakes

## **Charity Shoal Complex**

The Charity Shoal complex in eastern Lake Ontario is a bedrock outcrop composed of Charity Shoal, East Charity Shoal, and South Charity Shoal. This shoal complex straddles the international border approximately 8 km south of Bear Point on Wolf Island at the head of the St. Lawrence River (Fig. 30). East Charity Shoal Light occupies a small, rocky island at the north end of the shoal. Water 18 m or more deep surrounds the shoal complex. The bedromck forming the lake bed in eastern Lake Ontario is Ordovician limestone and the strata dip gently to the south (Hough 1958).

An irregularly shaped area of lake bed covering approximately 1,000 ha was mapped (Fig. 31). The shoal within the mapped area was a ring-like formation with a tail that extended to the southwest. A pocket of water with depths to 18 m occupied the area within the ring of shoal water. Water depth elsewhere in the mapped area, excluding the small portion of East Charity Shoal occupied by the lighthouse, ranged from approximately 6 m to slightly more than 22 m.

A Ponar grab sample revealed that the substrate in the deepwater area in the center of the shoal was stiff, varved clay covered with a layer of course brown sand approximately 1-2 cm thick. A ring of broken bedrock evenly distributed on bedrock (Fig. 32) surrounded the sand, mostly at 10-14 m and was surrounded, in turn, by worn bedrock ridges with patches of broken bedrock at approximately 6-14 m (Figs. 33, 34). The worn bedrock ridges were conspicuous features on the mosaic (Fig. 35). They were bordered by rubble with broken bedrock (Fig. 36), two small areas of broken bedrock, and on the southeastern edge of the shoal at 14-18 m, by sand with scattered cobble. Some of the cobble was extensively pitted (Fig. 37). Sand with scattered cobble was also present on the northeastern end of the shoal, mostly at depths greater than 14 m, and at the southern end of the shoal at depths greater than 20 m.

The best substrate for lake trout spawning and fry production on the Charity Shoal complex was the rubble with broken bedrock that bordered most of the mapped area. Interstitial depths of 30 cm or more occurred in patches in this substrate on about the 20-m depth contour in the northeastern corner of the mapped area and at 14 m on the western side of the mapped area.

An irregularly shaped area of lake bed covering approximately 1,000 ha was mapped (Fig. 31). The shoal within the mapped area was a ring-like formation with a tail that extended to the southwest. A pocket of water with depths to 18 m occupied the area within the ring of shoal water. Water depth elsewhere in the mapped area, excluding the small portion of East Charity Shoal occupied by the lighthouse, ranged from approximately 6 m to slightly more than 22 m.

A Ponar grab sample revealed that the substrate in the deepwater area in the center of the shoal was stiff, varved clay covered with a layer of coarse brown sand approximately 1-2 cm thick. A ring of broken bedrock evenly distributed on bedrock (Fig. 32) surrounded the sand, mostly at 10-14 m and was surrounded, in turn, by worn bedrock ridges with patches of broken bedrock at approximately 6-14 m (Figs. 33, 34). The worn bedrock ridges were conspicuous features on the mosaic (Fig. 35). They were bordered by rubble with broken bedrock (Fig. 36), two small areas of broken bedrock, and on the southeastern edge of the shoal at 14-18 m, by sand with scattered cobble. Some of the cobble was extensively pitted (Fig. 37). Sand with scattered cobble was also present on the northeastern end of the shoal, mostly at depths greater than 14 m, and at the southern end of the shoal at depths greater than 20 m.

The best substrate for lake trout spawning and fry production on the Charity Shoal complex was the rubble with broken bedrock that bordered most of the mapped area. Interstitial depths of 30 cm or more occurred in patches in this substrate on about the 20-m depth contour in the northeastern corner of the mapped area and at 14 m on the western side of the mapped area.



Fig. 31. Charity Shoal complex substrates and bathymetry. Water depths (dashed lines) are in meters. The black bar in the upper right corner represents 0.4 km.

Substrate		Hectares
S - Sand		66.22
SC - Sand with scattered cobble		199.98
Rb - Rubble with broken bedrock		319.18
Wb - Worn bedrock ridges with broken		
bedrock patches		341.14
B - Broken bedrock evenly distributed		
on bedrock		<u>69.17</u>
	Total	995.69



Fig. 31. Charity Shoal complex substrates and bathymetry. Water depths (dashed lines) are in meters. The black bar in the upper right corner represents 0.4 km.

Substrate		Hectares
S - Sand		66.22
SC - Sand with scattered cobble		199.98
Rb - Rubble with broken bedrock		319.18
Wb - Worn bedrock ridges with broken		
bedrock patches		341.14
B - Broken bedrock evenly distributed		
on bedrock		69.17
	Total	995.69



Fig. 32. Broken bedrock evenly distributed on bedrock substrate on Charity Shoal complex, Lake Ontario.



Fig. 33. Worn bedrock ridges substrate on Charity Shoal complex, Lake Ontario.



Fig. 34. Broken bedrock patches substrate on Charity Shoal complex, Lake Ontario.

The worn bedrock ridges with patches of broken bedrock substrate provided only small, widely spaced patches of marginal habitat for spawning and fry production. Little piling of loose rock occurred, interstitial depth was generally less than 10 cm, and most of the interstitial spaces were large enough to allow small fish to prey on eggs and fry resting there. The other three substrates that were mapped were unsuitable for lake trout spawning and fry production because they had interstitial depths of less than 5 cm.



Fig. 35. Charity Shoal mosaic showing worn bedrock ridges. Dot shows the approximate location of the East Charity Shoal Light. The black bar in the lower left corner represents 100 m.



Fig. 36. Rubble with broken bedrock substrate on Charity Shoal complex, Lake Ontario.



Fig. 37. Pitted cobble substrate on Charity Shoal complex, Lake Ontario.

#### SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Partridge Island Reef, Port Austin Reef, Brocton Shoal, and the Charity Shoal complex contained what seemed to be good-to-excellent substrates for spawning and fry production by shallow-water strains of lake trout that are planted in the Great Lakes. These substrates were in water 6-22 m deep where natural illumination reached the lake bed. They consisted largely of piled, rounded, or angular rubble and cobble and had interstitial spaces that were 20 cm or more deep and narrow enough to protect lake trout eggs and fry from predators, ice scour, and buffeting by waves and currents.

Results of the side-scan sonar surveys at Partridge Island Reef, Lake Superior, and Port Austin Reef, Lake Huron, helped Great Lakes Fishery Commission cooperators plan and conduct egg survival field bioassays at those sites (Manny et al. 1989). These bioassays (B. Manny, U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, pers. commun.) confirmed that the best substrates on both reefs can support the production of viable, swim-up fry. Among the three other sites that we surveyed, Brocton Shoal in Lake Erie probably offers the best habitat for spawning and fry production. The best Brocton Shoal substrate is clean, deep, and reasonably contiguous. The Charity Shoal complex also contains suitable substrate, but it is distributed in relatively small, isolated patches and exhibits a light to moderately thick covering of periphyton and silt. No suitable substrate was found on Wilmette Reef; periphyton covered most rock surfaces and interstitial depth was 5 cm or less. Wilmette Reef is not recommended as a site for egg survival studies.

The present study reaffirms the utility of side-scan sonar and underwater video-camera surveys for mapping and evaluating till-derived substrates (Edsall et al. 1989) and demonstrates that the approach can also be effectively applied on bedrock dominated substrates. Till-derived and bedrock dominated substrates are the two major types that Goodyear et al. (1982) indicated were used historically for spawning by lake trout in the Great Lakes.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Great Lakes Fishery Commission provided financial support for a portion of this study. The New York State Department of Environmental Conservation made their vessel m available to us for the survey of Brocton Shoal and allowed us to use their Cape Vincent facility during our survey of the Charity Shoal complex. Andrew Aldridge, Anthony Frank, and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, National Ecology Research Center, Ft. Collins, Colorado, prepared the substrate and bathymetric maps. Charles Collinson, Gary Eck, John Gannon, John Krezoski, Bruce Manny, Elizabeth Rockwell, and William Swink reviewed the manuscript and provided editorial guidance. Gail Etter prepared the cameraready copy.

#### REFERENCES

- Carter, C. 1977. Sediment-load measurements along the United States shore of Lake Erie. Ohio, Dept. Nat. Resour., Geological Survey, Rep. 102 Columbus, OH. 24 p.
- Collinson, C., R. D. Nordby, and A. K. Hansel. 1979. Continued evaluation of Silurian reefs, in Lake Michigan as potential breeding sites for lake trout. Ill. State Geological Survey, Urbana, IL. 18 p.
- Cvancara, A. M., and J. C. Melik. 1961. Bedrock geology of Lake Huron. Univ. of Michigan Great Lakes Res. Div., Inst. Sci. and Tech. Publ. 7: 116-125.
- Edsall, T. A. 1992. Lake trout spawning habitat in the Six Fathom Bank-Yankee Reef lake trout sanctuary in Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 18: 70-90.
- Edsall, T. A., T. P. Poe, R. T. Nester, and C. L. Brown. 1989. Side-scan sonar mapping of lake trout spawning habitat in northern Lake Michigan. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 9: 269-279.
- Eshenroder, R. L. [ED.] 1988. A proposal for a bioassay procedure to assess impact of habitat conditions on lake trout reproduction in the Great Lakes. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Spec. Publ. 88-2. 12 p.
- Eshenroder, R. L., T. P. Poe, and C. H. Olver, [EDS.] 1984. Strategies for rehabilitation of lake trout in the Great Lakes: proceedings of a conference on lake trout research, August 1983. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Tech. Rep. 40. 63 p.
- Goodyear, C. D., T. A. Edsall, D. M. Ormsby-Dempsy, G. D. Moss, and P. E. Polanski. 1982. Atlas of the spawning and nursery areas of Great Lakes fishes. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. FWS/OBS-82/52. Washington, DC. 1213 p.
- Hall, J. 1843. Geology of New York. Part IV, survey of the fourth geological district: Albany, NY. Carroll and Cook. 683 p.
- Hough, J. L. 1958. Geology of the Great Lakes. Univ. of Ill. Press, Urbana, IL. 313 p.
- Marsden, E. J., and C. C. Krueger. 1990. Comparison of substrate selected by spawning lake trout, and evaluation of techniques for egg collection. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Res. Completion Rep. 22 p.

- Marsden, E. J., C. C. Krueger, and C. P. Schneider. 1988. Evidence of natural reproduction by stocked lake trout in Lake Ontario. J. Great Lakes Res. 14: 3-s.
- Manny, B. A., D. Jude, and R. L. Eshenroder. 1989. Field test of a bioassay procedure for assessing habitat quality on fish spawning grounds. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 118: 175-182.
- Nester, R. T., and T. P. Poe. 1987. Visual observations of historical lake trout spawning grounds in western Lake Huron. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 7: 418-424.
- Peck, J. W. 1986. Dynamics of reproduction by lake trout on a man-made reef. J. Great Lakes Res. 12: 293-303.
- Sly, P. G., and R. L. Thomas. 1974. Review of geological research as it relates to an understanding of Great Lakes limnology. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 31: 795-825.
- Thomas, R. L., A. L. Kemp, and C. F. M. Lewis. 1973. The surficial sediments of Lake Huron. Can. J. Earth Sci. 10: 226-271.
- Wagner, W. C. 1982. Lake trout spawning habitat in the Great Lakes. Mich. Dept. Nat. Resour. Fish. Res. Rep. 1904. 13 p.
- Wentworth, C. K. 1922. A scale of grade and class terms for clastic sediments. J. Geol. 30: 377-392.

#### Technical Report Series

- 1 Use of 3-trifluormethyl-4-nitrophenol as a selective sea lamprey larvicide. May 1961. V. C. Applegate, J. H. Howell, J. W. Moffett, B. G. H. Johnson, and M. A. Smith. 36 p.
- 2 Fishery statistical districts of the Great Lakes. September 1961. S. H. Smith, H. J. Buettner, and R. Hile. 24 p.
- Commercial fish production in the Great Lakes 1867-1977. September 1979. N. S. Baldwin, R. W. Saalfeld, M. A. 3 Ross, and H. J. Buettner. 192 p. (Supersedes 1962 edition and 1970 supplement.)
- 4 Estimation of the brook and sea lamprey ammocoete populations of three streams. September 1962. B. R. Smith and A. L. McLain. p. 1-18.
- A photoelectric amplifier as a dye detector. September 1962. W. J. Ebel. p. 19-28.
- 5 Collection and analysis of commercial fishery statistics in the Great Lakes. December 1962. R. Hile. 34 p.
- Limnological survey of Lake Erie 1959 and 1960. November 1963. A. M. Beeton. 34 p. 6
- 7 The use of alkalinity and conductivity measurements to estimate concentrations of 3-trifluormethyl-4-nitrophenol required for treating lamprey streams. November 1963. R. K. Kanayama. 10 p.
- 8 Synergism of 5, 2'-dichloro-4-nitro-salicylanilide and 3-trifluormethyl-4-nitrophenol in a selective lamprey larvicide. May 1964. J. H. Howell, E. L. King, Jr., A. J. Smith, and L. H. Hanson. 22 p.
- 0 Detection and measurement of organic lampricide residues. 1965. S. L. Daniels, L. L. Kempe, T. J. Billy, and A. M. Beeton. 18 p.
- 10 Experimental control of sea lamprevs with electricity on the south shore of Lake Superior, 1953-60, 1965, A. L. McLain, B. R. Smith, and H. H. Moore. 48 p.
- 11 The relation between molecular structure and biological activity among mononitrophenols containing halogens. December 1966. V. C. Applegate, B. G. H. Johnson, and M. A. Smith. p. 1-20. Substituted nitrosalicylanilides: A new class of selectively toxic sea lamprey larvicides. December 1966. R. J. Starkey and J. H. Howell. p. 21-30.
- 12 Physical limnology of Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. September 1967. A. M. Beeton, S. H. Smith, and F. F. Hooper. 62 p.
- 13 Population characteristics and physical condition of alewives, Alosa pseudoharengus, in a massive dieoff in Lake Michigan, 1967. December 1968. E. H. Brown, Jr., 22 p.
- 14 Limnological survey of Lake Ontario, 1964 (five papers). April 1969. H. F. Allen, J. F. Reinwand, R. E. Ogawa, J. K. Hiltunen, and L Wells. 60 p.
- 15 The ecology and management of the walleve in western Lake Erie. May 1969. H. A. Regier, V. C. Applegate, and R. A. Ryder, in collaboration with J. V. Manz, R. G. Ferguson, H. D. Van Meter, and D. R. Wolfert, 104 p.
- 16 Biology of larval sea lampreys (Petromyzon marinus) of the 1960 year class. isolated in the Big Garlic River, Michigan, 1960-1965. October 1971. P. J. Manion and A. L. McLain. 36 p.
- 17 New parasite records for Lake Erie fish. April 1972. A. O. Dechtiar. 20 p.
- 18 Microbial degradation of the lamprey larvicide 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol in sediment-water systems. January 1973. L. L. Kempe. 20 p.
- 19 Lake Superior-A case history of the lake and its fisheries. January 1973. A. H. Lawrie and J. F. Rahrer. 74 p.
- 20 Lake Michigan--Mao's effects on native fish stocks and other biota. January 1973. L. Wells and A. L. McLain. 58 p.
- 21 Lake Huron-The ecology of the fish community and man's effects on it. January 1973. A. H. Berst and G. R. Spangler. 42 p.
- 22 Effects of exploitation, environmental changes, and new species on the fish habitats and resources of Lake Erie. April 1973. W. L. Hartman. 44 p.
- 23 A review of the changes in the fish species composition of fake Ontario. January 1973. W. J. Christie. 66 p.
- 24 Lake Opeongo--The ecology of the fish community and of man's effects on it. March 1973. N. V. Martin and F. E. J. Fry. 34 p.
- 25 Some impacts of man on Kootenay Lake and its salmonoids. April 1973. T. G. Northcote. 48 p.
- Control of the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) in Lake Superior, 1953-70. March 1974. B. R. Smith, J. J. Tibbles, 26 and B. G. H. Johnson. 60 p.
- 27 Movement and recapture of parasitic-phase sea lampreys (Petromyzon marinus) tagged in the St. Marys River and Lakes Huron and Michigan, 196367. July 1974. H. H. Moore, F. H. Dahl, and A. K. Lamsa. 20 p.
- Changes in the lake trout population of southern Lake Superior in relation to the fishery, the sea lamprey, and 28 stocking, 1950-70. July 1975. R. L Pycha and G. R. King. 34 p.
- 29 Chemosterilization of the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus). July 1978. L. H. Hanson and P. J. Manion. 16 p.
- 30 Biology of larval and metamorphosing sea lampreys (Petromyzon marinus) of the 1960 year class in the Big Garlic River, Michigan, Part If. 1966.72. October 1978. P. J. Manion and B. R. Smith. 36 p.
- 31 Walleve stocks in the Great Lakes, 1800-1975; fluons and possible causes, February 1979, J. C. Schneider and J. H. Leach. 54 p.
- 32 Modeling the western lake Erie walleye population: a feasibility study. April 1979. B. J. Shuter, J. F. Koonce, and H. A. Regier. 42 p.
- 33 Distribution and ecology of lampreys in the Lower Peninsula of Michigan 1957-75. April 1979. R. H. Morman. 60 p.

- 34 Effects of granular 2', 5-dichloro-4'-nitrosalicylanilide (Bayer 73) on benthic macroinvertebrates in a lake environment. May 1979. P. A. Gilderhus. p. 1-5. Efficacy of antimcin for control of larval sea lampreys (Petromyzon marinus) in lentic habitats. May 1979. P.A.
  - Gilderhus, n. 6-18.
- 35 Variations in growth, age of transformation, and sex ratio of sea lampreys reestablished in chemically treated tributaries of the upper Great Lakes. May 1979. H. A. Purvis. 36 p.
- 36 Annotated list of the filhed of the Lske Ontario watershed. June 1979. B. J. Crossman and H. D. Van Meter. 28 p.
- 37 Rehabilitating Great Lakes ecosystems. December 1979. Edited by G. R. Francis, J. J. Magnuson, H. A. Regier, and D. R. Talheim. 100 p.
- 38 Green Bay in the future-a rehabilitative prospectus. September 1982. Edited by H. J. Harris, D. R. Talhelm, J. J. Magnuson, and A. M. Forbes. 60 p.
- 39 Minimum size limits for yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) in western Lake Eric. March 1980. W. L. Hartman, S. J. Nepszy. and R. L. Scholl. 32 p.
- 40 Strategies for rehabilitation of lake trout in the Great Lakes: proceedings of a conference on lake trout research, August 1983, August 1984. Edited by R. L. Eshenroder, T. P. Poe, and C. H. Olver. 64 p.
- 41 Overfishing or pollution? Case history of a controversy on the Great Lakes. January 1985. F. N. Egerton. 28 p.
- 42 Movement and capture of sea lampreys (Petromyzon marinus) marked in northern Lake Huron. 1981-82. February 1985. J. W. Heinrich. W. C. Anderson, and S. D. Oja. p. 1-14. Response of spawning-phase sea lampreys (*Petromyzon marinus*) to a lighted trap. February 1985. H. A. Purvis, C. L. Chudy, E. L. King, Jr., and V. K. Dawson, p. 15-28.
- 43 A prospectus for the management of the Long Point ecosystem. March 1985. G. R. Francis. A. P. L. Grima, H. A. Regier, and T. H. Whillans. 112 p.
- 44 Population dynamics and interagency management of the bloater (*Coregonus hoyi*) in Lake Michigan, 1967-1982. March 1985. E. H. Brown, Jr., R. W. Rybicki, and R. J. Poff. 36 p.
- 45 Review of fish species introduced into the Great Lakes, 1819-1974. April 1985. L. Emery. 32 p.
- 46 Impact of sea lamprey parasitism on the blood features and hemopoietic tissues of rainbow trout. June 1985. R. E. Kinnunen and H. E. Johnson. 20 p.
- 47 Comparative toxicity of the lampricide 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol to ammocetes of three species of lampreys. August 1985. E. L. King. Jr. and J. A. Gabel. p. 1-5. Solid bars of 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol: a simplified method of applying lampricide to small streams. August 1985. P. A. Gilderhus. p. 6-12. Toxicity of the lampricides 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophellol (TFM) and 2', 5-dichloro-4'-nitrosalicylanilide (Bayer 73) to eggs and nymphs of the mayfly (*Hexagenia* sp.). August 1985. T. D. Bills, L. L. Marking, and J. J. Rach. p. 13-24.
- 48 Pathology of sea lamprey inflicted wounds on rainbow trout. December 1986. R. E. Kinnunen and H. E. Johnson. 32 p.
- 49 Using the lake trout as an indicator of ecosystem health--application of the dichotomous key. February 1987. T. R. Marshall, R. A. Ryder, C. J. Edwards, and G. R. Spangler. 38 p.
- so A comparison of two methods for the simultaneous determination of TFM and Bayer 73 concentrations. November 1987. Ronald J. Scholefield. p. 1.8.

Elimination of <sup>44</sup>C-Bisazir residues in adult sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*). November 1987. J. L. Allen and V. K. Dawson, p. 9-20).

- 51 Parasites of fishes in the Canadian waters of the Great fakes. April 1988. Edited by S. J. Nepszy. 106 p.
- 52 Guide for determining application rates of lampricides for control of sea lamprey ammocetes. May 1988. J. G. Seelye, D. A. Johnson, J. G. Weise, and E. L. King, Jr. 24 p.
- 53 Sterilizing effect of Cesium-137 irradiation on male sea lampreys released in the Big Garlic River, Michigan. October 1988. P. J. Manion, L. H. Hanson, and M. F. Fodale. p. 1-7. Relation of pH to toxicity of lampricide TFM in the laboratory. October 1988. T. D. Bills. L. L. Marking, G. E. Howe, and J. J. Rach. p. 9.20.
- 54 Economics of Great Lakes Fisheries: A 1985 assessment. November 1988. D. R. Talhelm. 54 p.
- 55 Effects of the lampricide 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol on macroinvertebrate populations in a small stream. May 1990. H. J. Lieffers. 28 p.
- 56 Resistance to 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol (TFM) in sea lamprey. July 1990. R. J. Scholefield and J. G. Seelye. p. 1-5.

Effects of changes in dissolved oxygen on the toxicity of 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol (TM) to sea lamprey and rainbow trout. July 1990. J. G. Seelye and R. J. Scholefield. p. 6-16.

57 Toxicity of 2', 5-dichloro-4'-nitrosalicylanilide (Bayer 73) to three genera of larval lampreys. October 1992. R. J. Scholefield and James G. Seelye. p. 1-6.

Effect of pH on the toxicity of TFM to sea lamprey larvae and *nontarget* species during a stream treatment October 1992. Terry D. Mills and David A. Johnson. p. 7-20.

Effect of the lampricide 3-trifluoromethyl-4-nitrophenol on dissolved oxygen in aquatic systems. October 1992. Verdel K. Dawson. David A. Johnson, and John F. Sullivan. p. 21-34.